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Foreword



On the eve of World War I, the Faculty of Sciences (which included the Special Schools for engineers as well as the Agriculture School) had around thirty laboratories. Most of them were housed in colleges that dated from the eighteenth century. As unsuitable as these locations were for installing modern labs, some of them remained in use until long after World War II. Even today, the laboratories for Animal Physiology and Neurobiology, as well as those for Ecology, Evolution, and Biodiversity Conservation, are located in the old King’s College and the more recent Coal Museum nearby.

The history of laboratories at Leuven reveals a university that is continually evolving and responding to developments in the sciences. Surveying six centuries of scientific research makes clear how laboratories – literally – claimed their place at the university, and how they challenged the university administrators in terms of matériel and finances. It is a story of building and rebuilding, inventiveness and creativity, enterprising professors and their unrelenting complaints about lack of space and antiquated facilities.

In this walking guide, we’ll be taking a tour of this history through seven moments in time, namely, seven colleges that were once flourishing workplaces for science: the Collegium Trilingue, the Vicus Artium, the De Valk College, the Pope’s College and Maria-Theresia College, the King’s College, the Premonstratensian College, and the Arenberg Institute. At the same time, we’ll trace the historical development of scientific research at Leuven university, stopping to notice features typical for these laboratory colleges.

The itinerary proposed is about two kilometers long. The first three stops have to do with the Old University (1425–1797), stops 4 to 6 with the State University (1817–1835) and the Catholic University (1834–1968). The very last stop illustrates the exodus of the laboratories to the suburban campus in Heverlee.


At every stop, you’ll get information about the architectural history of the college. Correspondingly, we’ll shed light on the context for the scientific research in each college. The texts can be read separately, meaning sometimes it was necessary to repeat ourselves. Here and there, the text also goes into detail on the laboratories for medicine, the Special Schools for engineers and the Agriculture School. These last two institutions were part of the Faculty of Sciences until the mid-twentieth century. References to the medical labs are made only in connection with scientific research laboratories (anatomy, physiology, embryology, pharmacology, etc.), where scientists were often also involved. Clinical or strictly pathological laboratories are not taken into account.

By mid-2026, the last laboratory for the Faculty of Sciences will vanish from Leuven’s town center. Commemorating six centuries of science at the heart of the town and the university, this walking guide fits within the framework of initiatives the Faculty is undertaking for the university’s 600th anniversary celebrations. It will make those times both tangible and accessible by enriching the visible architectural remains of the past with the intangible stories of those who lived in those buildings. In the back of the book, we’ve included a short reading list for everyone inspired to learn more.
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Stop No. 1 Collegium Trilingue


➔ Busleidengang 6
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The Cradle of Humanism and Science



“At [Leuven],” Erasmus wrote in 1521,“the climate is agreeable, and there could not be a more peaceful place for study anywhere. Nowhere do the young show more enthusiasm for good literature, and many of them make wonderful progress, while the devotees of ancient ignorance protest in vain.”1 In view of his acute conflicts with Leuven’s theologians, we might doubt Erasmus’s sincerity when he wrote down these words of praise. Even so, Erasmus had a good reason for bearing a fondness for Leuven. Four years before, he had succeeded in establishing a new college in Leuven, one that was wholly dedicated to the study of the three ‘holy’ languages: Latin, Greek, and Hebrew. And this Collegium Trilingue (Three-Languages College) was much more than a regular instructional college. It became the birthplace of the humanistic movement that would thoroughly redraw the lines of scientific thinking, both at the university and far beyond.

Erasmus had first set foot in Leuven in 1498. He had the intention of settling in Leuven, though nothing came of it at that time. He arrived in the university town for a second time in 1502, and was warmly received. He was even offered a professorship, but he declined. The professorial life was nothing for Erasmus. During his stay in Leuven, he discovered a manuscript in the Park Abbey. It was written by the Italian humanist Lorenzo Valla, a strong advocate for using the philological approach to theology. According to Valla, the manuscripts handed down for the Vulgate, the Latin translation of the Bible, contained numerous errors and mistakes. Moreover, the Latin used was of questionable quality. In order to be truly able to understand the Bible, according to Valla – and Erasmus was his follower in this regard – an elementary knowledge of Latin was no longer enough: Greek and Hebrew were absolutely necessary as well. On top of that, a generous portion of textual criticism needed to be added, too.



In the years that followed, Erasmus stayed primarily in England and Italy, but he was back in Leuven in 1516. He was named councillor to the young emperor, Charles V. There he met up again with an old friend, Hieronymus Busleyden, with whom he had studied in Orléans. When Busleyden suddenly died in 1517, it turned out he had stipulated in his will that a new college was to be established within Leuven’s university, one where three professors for Latin, Greek, and Hebrew, respectively, would be appointed. Erasmus took the practical execution of the will upon himself.

His initiative did not quite sit well with the theologians at Leuven. They held on to their Vulgate tightly, fearing that a critical study of the Bible would play into the hands of reformist theologians. The recent uproar around Martin Luther’s Ninety-Five Theses was grist for the mill of the new college’s opponents. Likely incited by these professors, protests also came from the students, although the scope of their demonstrations is difficult to determine. Even so, the Collegium Trilingue could count on powerful protectors, such as Utrecht’s Cardinal Adrian (the future Pope Adrian VI, founder of the Pope’s College), as well as William II de Croÿ, one of the most influential political figures at the court of Emperor Charles. In 1520, the college was definitively incorporated into the university.

Language instruction immediately experienced great success. In its first years, already around two hundred students – approximately ten percent of the entire student population – were taking classes there. After four years, the assembly hall with seating for 300 audience members had to be doubled in size, and even that expansion was not enough to handle the enormous influx. Thanks to the Collegium Trilingue, Leuven became a focal point for learning. Students from all over Europe came to Leuven, and alumni of the Collegium Trilingue spread the “Leuven method,” as it was called, far beyond the boundaries of countries. Similar institutions were soon established in other university towns, though the network formed around Leuven’s Collegium Trilingue would continue to make up the core of the humanistic movement for a long time.


[image: A man wearing headdress and garment writes in a book on a lectern; on the foreground other books; on the wall the text: “Imago Erasmi Roterodami ab Alberto Durero ad vivam effigiem deliniata MDXXVI AD.”]Portrait of Erasmus of Rotterdam by Albrecht Dürer (1526).
Student enthusiasm for studying languages is not the only explanation for this success. In and around the Collegium Trilingue, an atmosphere of innovation and discovery prevailed. The study of these ancient languages opened the door to the many unknown, mostly Greek treatises of classical authors. Texts from antiquity finally gave up their secrets. Accurately reading manuscripts and printed editions brought to light errors in copying or mistakes in interpretation. Traditional views had to be adjusted. Concluded debates could be taken up again. And that revision was not limited to disputes in theology, jurisprudence, or philosophy. Even in medicine and the natural sciences, philological criticism found avid adherents.

Among them, the most famous was the future anatomist Andreas Vesalius, at that moment still a philosophy student in the Faculty of Arts. Opinions are divided over his linguistic knowledge, although Vesalius clearly liked to show off his humanistic education. The renowned introductory chapter in his magnum opus – De humani corporis fabrica, in which he argued for reforms in medicine – was written in a Latin that was stilted and unnecessarily complicated. In the same work, he also provided Hebrew translations of anatomical body parts, possibly because he (like many of his colleagues) assumed that the authoritative Arabic treatises on medicine were written in Hebrew script. In many cases, however, Vesalius’s Hebrew terms are written incorrectly, based more on their phonetic sound than on the grammatical structure of the words.

And yet, his humanistic use of language was more than just a superficial veneer. An important aspect of his work consisted of translating and studying ancient Greek texts. After studying philosophy in Leuven, Vesalius went to Paris, where he would study medicine under Johann Winter (or Guinter) von Andernach, himself an alumnus of Leuven’s Collegium Trilingue and a personal friend of Erasmus. Winter was an expert in Greek medical treatises, which he translated and published. Under Winter, Vesalius became fascinated in the oeuvre of the Greco-Roman physician Galen. During Vesalius’s stay in Paris, Winter was working on a translation of Galen’s Anatomices institutiones (Anatomical Institutions). In order to better understand Galen’s terminology, he carried out his own anatomical dissections. Vesalius assisted him in doing so, thus taking his first steps in anatomy.

When he was later tasked with anatomical dissections in Padua, Vesalius published a revised version of Winter’s translation, in which he gave the first indications of his talent. He pointed out the numerous errors or inconsistencies in Galen’s work. They resulted, Vesalius supposed, from Galen conducting dissections primarily on animals and, as a result, drawing unjustified conclusions for human anatomy. Vesalius set about working on an anatomical description of the human body, based exclusively on dissections of human corpses, which resulted in his renowned De Humani Corporis Fabrica (On the Fabric of the Human Body). Despite the revolutionary character of this work, Vesalius saw it as a continuation or completion of Galen’s vision, entirely in agreement with humanistic ideals.

Another alumnus of the Collegium Trilingue was the botanist Rembert Dodoens. Dodoens was only thirteen when he enrolled at Leuven in 1530. Before then, he had already studied Latin and Greek under Franciscus Hoverius, an alumnus of the Collegium Trilingue. Dodoens also took courses at the Collegium Trilingue in Leuven, in addition to studying medicine. It is possible – though uncertain – that he went on a few trips around Europe after graduating. Yet in 1542 he did publish, with Melchior Novesianus, an amended translation from the book about fevers written by the Byzantine physician Paulus Aeginetas, who was seen as one of the best experts on Galen’s work. Dodoens based his rewrite on the original translation by Winter, though it is not known if he also met Winter personally. What is possible – though, again, not entirely certain – is that Dodoens also took care of the Dutch translation for Leonhart Fuchs’s herbal titled De historia stirpium ([Notable Commentaries] on the History of Plants), published in Basel. The book constituted a milestone in European botany and became an icon for humanistic science. Fuchs argued for a return to the scientific concepts of the classical authors Dioscorides, Hippocrates, and Galen. Den nieuwen Herbarius (The New Herbal), as the Dutch translation was titled, marked the beginning of Dodoens’s epoch-making botanical work.

Around the same time as Vesalius and Dodoens, Gemma Frisius was also studying at the Collegium Trilingue. Although he had graduated as a physician and had a medical practice, he was primarily known as a mathematician and cosmographer. By the age of twenty-one, he had already published a reprint of the introduction to cosmography by the German geographer Petrus Apianus. Frisius’s edition experienced great success: there were no fewer than thirty of them, including translations into Dutch, French, and Spanish. The book contained more than just Apianus’s writing, as Gemma added new texts. In one of them he laid out a new cartographical technique, now known as the triangulation method. It became the scientific basis for today’s cartography.


[image: A man standing at a table with measuring instruments and holding a globe. Text: “Qui varium coeli morem penitusque remoti, Mortales docuit aetheris ire vias, quique novos Medicis meditando repperit usus, haec Gemmae effigies, hic fuit oris honos.”]Portrait of Gemma Frisius by Jan van Stalburch (Leuven, 1557).
Gemma is a pivotal figure for the Leuven Renaissance in scientific thought. Along with Hieremias Thriverius – again an alumnus of the Collegium Trilingue and author of numerous translations of and commentaries on Hippocrates and Galen – Gemma was present for the birth of the reformation of medical instruction at Leuven. Gemma helped Vesalius with the (not entirely legal) activity of taking a corpse from Leuven’s gallows field. Gemma himself may have also taught anatomy at Leuven, though it is not clear whether he had an official appointment from the university. His knowledge of cosmography put him in touch with scholarly circles in Poland, informing him of Copernicus’s new view of the world – long before Copernicus would publish anything on it. Gemma was enthusiastic. In a letter he expressed his expectation that Copernicus would usher in “a new earth, a new heaven, and a new world.”2 For Gemma, it was not so much a matter of Copernicus’s new, heliocentric worldview as it was about correcting antiquity’s calculation methods for astronomy.

Students from home and abroad sought out Gemma for his mathematical expertise. With Gemma’s support, the Dutchman Antonius Gogava translated Ptolemeus’s Tetrabiblos, a key work in ancient astrology which enjoyed much esteem in the sixteenth century. For many years, the English mathematician John Dee studied with Gemma Frisius in Leuven, and befriended another student of Gemma (as well as an alumnus of the Collegium Trilingue): Gerard Mercator. Gemma was producing maps, globes, and mathematical instruments with Mercator even before Mercator established himself independently and set up his own shop.
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